## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TRAVIS BISH,

No. 8229 Electronically Filed May 10 2021 03:13 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

vs.

THE JUSTICE COURT FOR SPARKS TOWNSHIP, THE HON. JESSICA LONGLEY, BY AND THROUGH REAL PARTY IN INTEREST THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Appeal from Order Denying Petition for Writ of Mandamus Case No. CR20-2911 The Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada The Honorable Scott N. Freeman, District Judge

### **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

### I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The district court filed an order denying an emergency petition for writ of habeas corpus, or in the alternative, petition for writ of mandamus on December 3, 2020. JA 87-92.<sup>1</sup> Appellant, Travis Bish (Mr. Bish), timely filed a notice of appeal on December 30, 2020. JA 93-95. This Court's jurisdiction rests on Rule 4(b) of the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure (NRAP); NRS 177.015(3) (providing that a defendant may appeal from a final judgment or order in a criminal case); and NRS 2.090(2) (providing that the Supreme Court has jurisdiction to review on appeal an order granting or refusing to grant mandamus).<sup>2</sup>

### **II. ROUTING STATEMENT**

The Nevada Supreme Court should keep and decide this appeal as it presents two principal issues that are questions of public importance. First, what rules of evidence apply at initial custody determination

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "JA" in this Opening Brief stands for the Joint Appendix. Pagination conforms to NRAP 30(c)(1). Mr. Bish has separately transmitted, by U.S. Mail, a Motion to File Sealed Exhibits Under Seal, with an attached Supplemental Joint Appendix. This is referred to as "Supp. JA."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This appeal is limited to the district court's order denying Mr. Bish's mandamus petition. This appeal does not carry forward Mr. Bish's habeas arguments.

hearings that occur pursuant to Valdez-Jimenez v. Eighth Judicial District Court, 136 Nev. 155, 460 P.3d 976 (2020)? Second, can the State rely primarily on the nature of the charge and potential sentence to meet its burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that detention is the least restrictive means of reasonably ensuring the return of the defendant and the safety of the community? See NRAP 17(a)(11).

## **III. STATEMENT OF THE LEGAL ISSUES PRESENTED**

Whether the State erroneously argued that formal rules of evidence apply at a bail hearing, impermissibly shifting the burden of proof to Mr. Bish to present affirmative evidence that he was not a risk of flight?

Whether the nature of the charge and potential sentence, without other evidence of risk, were sufficient to demonstrate that preventative detention was the least restrictive means of ensuring Mr. Bish's return to court and the safety of the community.

## IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a district court order denying a petition for writ of mandamus in a criminal case.

Mr. Bish filed a petition for writ of mandamus, or in the alternative, a petition for writ of habeas corpus, in the Second Judicial District Court seeking judicial review of the justice court's mishandling of bail procedures in light of *Valdez-Jimenez*. JA 29-62 (Emergency Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, or in the alternative, Petition for Writ of Mandamus; and Request for Emergency Hearing) (Petition). The district court ordered the State to file a written response, JA 63-65 (Order Directing State to Respond), and the State did so. <u>See</u> JA 66-78 (Response to Petitioner's Emergency Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, or in the alternative, Petition for Writ of Mandamus, and Request for Emergency Hearing) (Response). Mr. Bish filed a Reply on October 21, 2020. JA 79-83 (Reply). Mr. Bish filed a Request for Submission on October 27, 2020. JA 84-86 (Request for Submission).

The district court did not conduct a hearing, electing instead to "decide the instant Petition on the pleadings filed herein." JA 87 (Order Denying Emergency Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus, or in the alternative, Petition for Writ of Mandamus; and Request for Emergency Hearing) (Order). It denied the petition. *Id.* at 87-92 (Order). Mr. Bish timely filed a notice of appeal. JA 93-95 (Notice of Appeal).

As of the filing of this brief, Mr. Bish's criminal case remains in the Justice Court for the Sparks Township. <u>See</u> JA 55 (Register of Actions (The State of Nevada v. Travis Bish) Case No. 20-SCR-01369) (Docket). ///

#### V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Bish is charged with one count of Sexual Assault Against a Child Under the Age of 14, a violation of NRS 200.366, a Category A felony, by way of a *Criminal Complaint* filed on September 16, 2020. JA 1-2 (Complaint). The Complaint alleges a single incident of sexual abuse against Mr. Bish's nine-year-old daughter that allegedly occurred on August 22, 2020. *Id*. The allegation was brought to the attention of law enforcement on August 22, 2020. Supp. JA 2-5 (PC Declaration).<sup>3</sup> On September 11, 2020, Mr. Bish participated in an interview with law enforcement at the Sparks Police Department. *Id*. He was permitted to leave the Police Department at the conclusion of the interview. *Id*. He was arrested without incident three days later, on September 14, 2020. *Id*.

On September 15, 2020, a justice of the peace set Mr. Bish's bail at \$30,000 bondable. JA 53 (Bail Setting Form). Under information and belief, the justice of the peace set this bail based on the information

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mr. Bish filed a Motion to File Supplemental Joint Appendix Under Seal (Supp. JA). The Supplemental Joint Appendix contains the PC Document and the Nevada Pretrial Risk Assessment (NPRA), which are filed confidentially in the justice and district courts due to the sensitive nature of the information contained therein.

available at the time, which was the PC Declaration and the Nevada Pretrial Risk Assessment ("NPRA"). Supp. JA 2-5 (PC Declaration); Supp. JA 7-8 (NPRA). Neither Mr. Bish, nor his counsel, nor a representative of the State were present for this initial setting of his conditions of release. JA 32 (Petition).

This case came before the same justice of the peace on September 18, 2020, for a bail hearing pursuant to Valdez-Jimenez v. Eighth Judicial District Court, 136 Nev. Adv. Op. 20, 460 P.3d 976 (2020). JA 55 (Docket). At the hearing, the State requested an increase in bail to \$150,000. JA 7 (Transcript of Proceedings: Video-Recorded Hearing in State of Nevada v. Travis Bish, Sept. 18, 2020) (Transcript). The State argued that Mr. Bish poses a danger to any individual similarly situated to the alleged victim based on the allegations in this case. Id. at 6-7. The State argued that Mr. Bish poses a flight risk due solely to the nature of the charges. Id. Specifically, the State argued that Mr. Bish faces thirtyfive years to life in prison if convicted and he does not want other individuals to know about his charges, because the bail hearing was trailed to the end of the calendar.<sup>4</sup> Id. The State acknowledged that Mr.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Mr. Bish asserted in the Petition in the district court that Mr. Bish did

Bish's employment with Tesla at the time of his arrest had been verified. *Id.* at 7.

Ms. Johnson, the mother of the alleged victim, testified under oath at the hearing. *Id.* at 7-15. She testified that Mr. Bish is her husband and she has three children, ages 9, 7, and 4. *Id.* at 8, 12, 15. The alleged victim, the nine-year-old, is Mr. Bish's adopted daughter, and one of the other children is his biological child with Ms. Johnson. *Id.* at 11, 17. Ms. Johnson testified that she and Mr. Bish were separated at the time of this allegation and Mr. Bish assisted with caring for the children while Ms. Johnson was at work. *Id.* at 10, 13. Ms. Johnson testified that she had received some text messages from Mr. Bish and his mother prior to Mr. Bish's arrest, and she did not want the texts from the mother to continue. *Id.* at 12. Ms. Johnson told the Court that she was in the process of obtaining a temporary protection order against Mr. Bish. *Id.* at 11. Ms.

not request that his case go last; his attorney did. JA 33 (Petition). Mr. Bish asserted below that it is the policy of the Washoe County Public Defender's Office to request that hearings involving allegations of sex crimes be handled last, because defendants charged with sex-related crimes face physical violence and persecution from other inmates at the jail when other inmates learn of sex-related charges. *Id.* This information was never contradicted or otherwise opposed by the State. JA 66-78 (Response).

Johnson further testified that, at the time of the hearing, she was in the process of applying for a protection order against Mr. Bish. *Id.* at 11. However, as of the filing of the Petition below on October 6, 2020, Ms. Johnson had not filed an application for a protection order against Mr. Bish, nor had any protection order been issued by any local court. JA 59-60 (Search Results of the Second Judicial District Court and Justice Courts of Reno and Sparks Townships).

Ms. Johnson testified that the alleged victim had regressed and had been engaging in toddler-like tantrums since the investigation in this case begun. JA 9-10 (Transcript). She testified that she does not think a bail in the amount of \$30,000 is "much," given the allegations. *Id.* at 11. She testified that this case has impacted her and others, because now she must rely on friends to watch her children while she is at work. *Id.* at 12. She testified she did not believe that Mr. Bish thought about how his alleged actions affected other people. *Id.* at 13. She never testified that she believed a no-contact order would be insufficient to protect her children if Mr. Bish were released. *Id.* at 7-15.

Counsel for Mr. Bish argued that Mr. Bish scores in the low risk category (4) on the NPRA. *Id.* at 21; *see* Supp. JA 7-8 (NPRA). Pretrial

Services had already verified Mr. Bish's employment with Tesla at the time of his arrest. Supp. JA 7-8 (NPRA). Counsel for Mr. Bish made an offer of proof that Mr. Bish could live with his mother in the Reno area if released, which would not be with the alleged victim. JA 21. Counsel for the State confirmed that Mr. Bish's mother lives in the Reno area. Id. Counsel for Mr. Bish pointed out that Mr. Bish is thirty-one years old with almost no criminal history. Id. at 22-23. The evidence at the hearing as to Mr. Bish's criminal history is that his only prior contact with law enforcement occurred in Colorado over seven years ago. Id. at 24. In 2007, Mr. Bish had arrests for contempt and "public peace," which the State likened to disturbing the peace. Id. In 2013, he was arrested for assault causing serious bodily injury, felony menacing with a real/simulated weapon, and disorderly conduct/fighting, but the felony assault and menacing charges were deferred and dismissed. Id. He has no arrests or convictions for any crime similar to the allegations in this case or for any crime against a child. *Id*.

Counsel for Mr. Bish requested an own-recognizance release with conditions, including GPS monitoring and/or house arrest if the Court deemed those conditions necessary. *Id.* at 23. In response to a question

from the Judge, Mr. Bish stated that his mother does not own her own home. *Id.* at 24. At the time of the bail hearing, Mr. Bish had been in custody for five days on \$30,000 bail and had not been able to bail out. JA 62 (Record of Arrest); JA 55 (Docket).

The Court increased Mr. Bish's bail to \$50,000 bondable. JA 25 (Transcript). The Court also imposed the following conditions, in addition to posting money bail: no contact with anyone under the age of 18, obey all laws, including court orders and protection orders, Mr. Bish's mother cannot communicate with Ms. Johnson if Mr. Bish is living with his mother, and enhanced supervision by Pretrial Services. *Id.* at 25-26.

The justice court specifically held that Mr. Bish presents a low risk of flight. *Id.* at 25. However, the justice court found that there is still *some* risk of flight due to the seriousness of the charge. *Id.* The justice court further found that Mr. Bish has minimal criminal history, employment at the time of arrest, and family in the area (i.e., ties to the community). *Id.* 

On October 6, 2020, counsel for Mr. Bish filed a petition in the district court seeking mandamus and habeas relief. JA 29-62 (Petition). Specifically, the petition asserted that the justice court erred by

detaining Mr. Bish pretrial without clear and convincing evidence that detention was the least restrictive means of reasonably ensuring his return to court and the safety of the community or alleged victim. *Id.* at 45-46.

In its response, the State argued that the justice of the peace considered all relevant bail factors and appropriately ordered that Mr. Bish be detained pretrial. JA 72 (Response). The State also argued that there was no evidence in the record that Mr. Bish presents a very low risk of flight, was employed at the time of arrest, and has family in the area. Id. at 74. However, the State's own attorney informed the justice court during the bail hearing that Mr. Bish "does have family in the community" and "I'm informed and believe that he is employed at Tesla." JA 6 (Transcript). The State's attorney further informed the Court that Mr. Bish's mother lives in the Reno area. Id. at 23. The State argued that Mr. Bish was required to present the testimony of witnesses or their affidavits at the hearing. JA 74 (Response). Lastly, the State argued that a pretrial writ petition was not an available remedy through which to challenge a lower court's custody determination. Id. at 70-72, 75.

In his reply, Mr. Bish addressed the appropriateness of a writ petition for challenging a lower court's custody determination, the evidentiary standard for bail hearings, and the specific facts the State attempted to challenge in its response. JA 80-82 (Reply).

The district court issued an order denying the petition without oral argument on December 3, 2020. JA 87-92 (Order). The district court appears to have adopted the State's argument that the defense was required to present evidence and witnesses at the bail hearing, implying that Mr. Bish could not rely on evidence that was already in the record or to which the State stipulated. *Id.* at 90. The district court summarily concluded that the justice of the peace did not abuse her discretion by preventively detaining Mr. Bish and failed to review de novo the application of *Valdez-Jimenez* to particular facts in this case. *Id.* at 90-91.

#### VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

During Mr. Bish's *Valdez-Jimenez* detention hearing, the State failed to prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that pretrial detention was the least restrictive means of reasonably ensuring Mr. Bish's return to court and the safety of the community and the alleged victim. The

district court abused its discretion in denying Mr. Bish's emergency petition for writ of mandamus regarding the pretrial detention order.

Specifically, the district court adopted an incorrect evidentiary standard for *Valdez-Jimenez* hearings, and improperly shifted the burden to Mr. Bish to present affirmative evidence or testimony indicating that he was a low risk of flight. Further, it was a clear error of law for the justice court to determine that the seriousness of the charge and the potential sentence, on their own, could support a finding of risk of flight that necessitated a de facto pretrial detention order. The denial of mandamus relief was an abuse of discretion under these circumstances.

#### VII. ARGUMENT

#### Standard of Review

This Court is called upon to clarify the application of principles adopted in *Valdez-Jimenez* and the rules of evidence that apply at those hearings. This issue presents a purely legal question, which this Court reviews *de novo*. *See Matter of Halverson*, 123 Nev. 493, 509, 169 P.3d 1161, 1172 (2007) ("We review purely legal issues ... de novo"); *and id*. at 509 n.19 (citing *Milton v. State, Dep't of Prisons*, 119 Nev. 163, 164, 68 P.3d 895, 895 (2005) ("explaining that an argument that the district court applied the wrong legal standard raises a pure question of law, subject to de novo review"); *State v. Frederick*, 129 Nev. 251, 254, 299 P.3d 372, 375 (2013) (noting that pure questions of law are reviewed de novo).

The Nevada Supreme Court reviews the district court's denial of a petition for a writ of mandamus for an abuse of discretion. *Stockmeier v. Green*, 130 Nev. 1003, 1008, 340 P.3d 583, 586 (2014). "While review for abuse of discretion is ordinarily deferential, deference is not owed to legal error." *Matter of Aragon*, 136 Nev. Adv. Op. 75, 476 P.3d 465, 467 (Dec. 3, 2020).

#### **Discussion**

Formal rules of evidence do not apply at a bail hearing. The State impermissibly shifted the burden of proof to Mr. Bish by arguing that he had failed to produce affirmative evidence that he was not a flight risk.

The petition for writ of mandamus in this case challenged the justice court's *de facto* detention order, arguing that the justice court's decision was not based on clear and convincing evidence that detention was the least restrictive means of reasonably ensuring Mr. Bish's return to court and the safety of the community. In response to the petition, the State argued that there was no evidence in the record that Mr. Bish presents a very low risk of flight, was employed at the time of arrest, and has family in the area. JA 74 (Response).

The Nevada Revised Statutes specifically exclude bail hearings from proceedings to which the rules of evidence and witnesses apply. NRS 47.020(3)(b) ("The other provisions of this title . . . do not apply to . . . Proceedings with respect to release on bail"). The standard practice, which has been upheld in both state and federal courts, is for the parties to rely on proffers of evidence and judicial admissions. *See, e.g., United States v. Martir*, 782 F.2d 1141, 1147 (2d Cir. 1986) (finding no error with a magistrate's reliance on a proffer to which no objection was made).

To proffer is "[t]o offer or tender (something, esp. evidence) for immediate acceptance." BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 570 (3d ed. 1996). "Judicial admissions are defined as deliberate, clear, unequivocal statements by a party about a concrete fact within that party's knowledge." *Reyburn Lawn & Landscape Designers, Inc. v. Plaster Dev. Co.*, 127 Nev. 331, 343, 255 P.3d 268, 276 (2011). Parties are bound by their judicial admissions. *Smith v. Zilverberg*, 137 Nev. Adv. Op. 7, at \*5 n.6 (Mar. 4, 2021) ("Under the doctrine of judicial admissions, he is bound to that statement.").

"As in the case of other pretrial proceedings such as arraignments and probable cause determinations for warrants, bail hearings are typically informal affairs, not substitutes for trial or even for discovery." United States v. LaFontaine, 210 F.3d 125, 131 (2d Cir. 2000) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted)). "Often the opposing parties simply describe to the judicial officer the nature of their evidence; they do not actually produce it." Id. However, "while the informality of bail hearings serves the demands of speed, the magistrate or district judge must also ensure the reliability of the evidence, by selectively insisting upon the production of the underlying evidence or evidentiary sources where their accuracy is in question." Id. (emphasis added); see United States v. Acevedo-Ramos, 755 F.2d 203, 208 (1st Cir. 1985) ("If the court is dissatisfied with the nature of the proffer [in a bail hearing], it can always, within its discretion, insist on direct testimony" (quoting H.R. Rep. No. 907, 91st Cong., 2d Sess. 182, 184 (1970))).

Reliance on proffers and judicial admissions has been upheld in Nevada. In *Application of Wheeler*, the Court noted that "information . . . may be received to aid the court" in determining conditions of release following a decision on whether a defendant charged with a capital

offense could be denied bail. 81 Nev. 495, 501, 406 P.2d 713, 716 (1965). At the bail hearing at issue, the prosecutor and defense counsel each commented on the defendant's criminal history and "referred to the fact that he was on bail from another state when the shooting at hand took place." Id., 406 P.2d at 716. The Court found that it was "preferable that such information be presented by authenticated records (rather than by the prosecutor's comment) and marked as exhibits in evidence," but noted that "the failure to do so [was] of no moment here, for the information was conceded to be correct." Id., 406 P.2d at 716. In Cameron, the district court relied on "information" that would not have been legally admissible evidence at a trial or preliminary hearing. *Cameron v. Eighth Jud. Dist.* Ct. in & for Cty. of Clark, 135 Nev. 214, 217, 445 P.3d 843, 845 (2019). "In setting the initial bail, the district court adopted the amount and conditions set by the justice court, which were premised on the justice court's review of Cameron's arrest report and criminal history, and on the State's arguments regarding Cameron's 10-year-old conviction for conspiracy to commit aggravated stalking." Id., 445 P.3d at 845.

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