IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TRAVIS BISH,

No. 82295

Electronically Filed Jan 12 2022 03:15 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

v.

THE JUSTICE COURT FOR SPARKS TOWNSHIP, THE HON. JESSICA LONGELY, BY AND THROUGH REAL PARTY IN INTEREST THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

JOHN L. ARRASCADA Washoe County Public Defender

KATHRYN REYNOLDS Deputy Public Defender 350 South Center Street, 5th floor Reno, Nevada 89501

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS Washoe County District Attorney

MARILEE CATE Appellate Deputy One South Sierra Street Reno, Nevada 89501

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

2. Bish pursued a pretrial Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus below and no appeal lies from an order denying such a Petition.

Bish styled his Petition below as a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus and cited authority from this Court and others to suggest that a writ of habeas corpus is the appropriate method to challenge excessive bail. *See* JA 29, 36. For example, in Bish's Petition below he asserted, "[t]he Nevada Supreme Court has held that a writ of habeas corpus is the appropriate means of challenging excessive bail or conditions of release." *Id.* at 36

² Bish implicitly conceded that NRAP 4(b) and NRS 177.015(3) do not support his claim of jurisdiction in his Opposition to the State's Motion to Dismiss, as he did not address the State's contentions on point and only focused his argument on NRS 2.090(2) to support his claim of jurisdiction.

(citations omitted). This is problematic for Bish's jurisdictional argument because this Court has explicitly held that "[n]o appeal lies from an order of the district court denying a pretrial petition for writ of habeas corpus."

Castillo, 10 Nev. at 352, 792 P.2d at 1135.

Bish preemptively attempted to circumvent the holding in Castillo by including a footnote in the jurisdictional statement of his Opening Brief, which notes that his appeal is limited to the district court's order denying his mandamus petition and that he does not carry forward his habeas arguments. OB, pg. 1, n. 2. Yet, Bish only made habeas arguments below. Indeed, while Bish indicated that his Petition was alternatively one for mandamus in its title, the only authority he cited associated with a writ of mandamus was that a writ of mandamus may issue when there is no plain, speedy, or adequate remedy at law. JA, 36 (citing NRS 34.170). Bish did not cite or make an argument consistent with the other mandamus requirements in his brief, such as NRS 34.160 which discusses when a writ of mandamus may issue. Bish also did not include an affidavit to support a writ of mandamus, as required by NRS 34.170. See NRS 34.170 ("It shall be issued upon an affidavit, on the application of the party beneficially interested.").

Notably, Bish did comply with the procedural requirements to file a petition for writ of habeas corpus, such as the verification requirement. NRS 34.370 (discussing the verification requirements for a writ of habeas corpus); JA, 31 (Bish's verification consistent with NRS 34.370)3. In other words, Bish may have included "writ of mandamus" in the title of his pleading, but it was in name only and he did not pursue such a writ below. See JA 29-47. This is akin to a scenario where an appellant makes an assertion on appeal or reference to a legal principle but does not support it with cogent authority or argument. This Court does not consider issues not properly argued or supported and finds new issues raised for the first time on appeal waived. See e.g., Edwards v. Emperor's Garden Rest., 122 Nev. 317, 330, n. 38, 130 P.3d 1280, 1288, n. 38 (2006) (declining to consider claims not cogently argued and not supported by relevant authority); Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981) (recognizing that arguments raised for the first time on appeal are waived).

 $^{^3}$ Bish cited NRS 53.045 for his verification support, but that statute simply allows a party to use an unsworn declaration in the place of an affidavit. However, the substance of the document addresses the requirements of the verification required by NRS 34.370 for a petition for writ of habeas corpus. The verification also refers to the Petition as simply a "Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus" as well. JA, 31, \P 2.

Bish pursued a petition for writ of habeas corpus because, as he argued in the Petition itself, that is the remedy the Nevada Supreme Court has specified is appropriate when challenging bail. *See* JA, 36. Thus, Bish has appealed a pretrial order denying a petition for writ of habeas corpus and no such appellate right exists. *See Castillo*, 106 Nev. at 352, 792 P.2d at 1135. This Court should reject Bish's attempt to change legal theories now in an effort to create jurisdiction over an appeal where none traditionally exists.

3. NRS 2.090 does not provide jurisdiction to this Court to consider Bish's appeal.

Even if this Court determines that Bish complied with the petition for writ of mandamus filing requirements and argued the issue below (which it should not), Bish still has not shown that jurisdiction is appropriate. Bish points to NRS 2.090(2) as a last-ditch effort for this Court to entertain his appeal. Bish's reliance on NRS 2.090(2) is misplaced.

NRS 2.090(2) provides, "[t]he Supreme Court has jurisdiction to review upon appeal... (2)... an order granting or refusing to grant an injunction or mandamus in the case *provided for by law*." (*emphasis added*). The plain language of NRS 2.090(2) provides jurisdiction over orders granting or refusing to grant mandamus *only* as provided by other statutes. Yet, Bish contends that NRS 2.090(2) provides the Supreme

Court jurisdiction to review *any* appeal from an order granting or denying mandamus. If the legislature intended for this Court to have jurisdiction over any and all pretrial orders denying writs of habeas corpus or alternatively pretrial writs of mandamus from the justice courts and district courts, it would not need to include the phrase "provided for by law" at the end of the statutory provision. Put simply, Bish's interpretation of NRS 2.090(2) improperly places an emphasis on certain words of the statute to the exclusion of others and should be rejected. *See e.g., Williams v. State Dept. of Corrections*, 133 Nev. 594, 596, 402 P.3d 1260, 1262 (2017) ("[t]his court avoids statutory interpretation that renders language meaningless or superfluous.") (cleaned up)4.

In addition, Bish's interpretation of NRS 2.090(2) cannot be harmonized with other statutes on point. *See Williams*, 133 Nev. at 596, 402 P.3d at 1262 (instructing that "whenever possible [the court] will interpret a rule or statute in harmony with other rules or statutes.") (citation omitted). For example, Bish's interpretation of NRS 2.090(2) is in direct contradiction of the plain language of NRS 177.015(3), which provides that "[t]he defendant only may appeal from a final judgment or

⁴ "Cleaned up" is used to indicate that internal quotation marks, alterations, and citations have been omitted. *See e.g., Redlin v. United States*, 921 F.3d 850, 860 (9th Cir. 2019).

verdict in a criminal case." NRS 177.015(3). To the extent that there is a conflict between two statutes, the specific statute controls. *See Williams*, 133 Nev. at 601, 402 P.3d at 1265 (indicating that under the general/specific canon, the more specific statute takes precedence and controls). In other words, because this is an appeal from a pretrial order resolving a bail issue, and not a final judgment, this Court does not have jurisdiction to decide the issues presented pursuant to the plain language of the specific statute on point. *See* NRS 177.015(3); *see also Castillo*, 106 Nev. at 352, 792 P.2d at 1135 ("[a]n appeal in a criminal case lies from the final judgment of the district court, not from an order finally resolving an issue in a criminal case.").

Finally, Bish's interpretation of NRS 2.090(2) is also at odds with the Nevada Constitution and Nevada Supreme Court precedent interpreting the same. District courts in Nevada "have final appellate jurisdiction in cases arising in Justice Courts...." Nev. Const. art. 6, § 6. District courts also have the power to issue writs of habeas corpus and all writs necessary to complete the exercise of their jurisdiction. *Id.* In *Sellers v. Fourth Judicial Dist. Court*, the Nevada Supreme Court made it clear that writ relief is the *only* appropriate means to challenge a district court's decision when it is acting in its appellate capacity. 119 Nev. 256, 257, 71 P.3d 495, 497 (2003) ("[b]ecause the district court has final appellate jurisdiction over cases arising in

justice[sic] court, Sellers cannot appeal to this court and may seek relief only through a writ petition") (emphasis added); see also Southworth v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 134 Nev. 149, 151, 414 P.3d 311 (2018) (quoting the same from Sellers, 119 Nev. at 257, 71 P.3d at 497).

Moreover, this Court's recent bail decisions further demonstrate Bish's procedural and jurisdictional error. In Valdez-Jimenez, the defendants/petitioners did not pursue a direct appeal of a bail decision before judgment, like Bish attempted here. 136 Nev. 155, 157, 460 P.3d 976, 981 (2020). Instead, the defendants/petitioners filed petitions for writs of mandamus with the Nevada Supreme Court and requested its extraordinary intervention, which is discretionary. See id. ("Both defendants filed a petition for a writ of mandamus"); see also Cote H. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct., 124 Nev. 36, 39, 175 P.3d 906, 907-908 (2008) (emphasizing that writs of mandamus are extraordinary remedies, and the Nevada Supreme Court has complete discretion to decide whether to consider them). Even in the Court's most recent published decision regarding a pretrial bail determination, the defendant/petitioner filed a petition for writ of mandamus with the Nevada Supreme Court to challenge the lower court's bail decision. See Sewall v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 137 Nev. Adv. Op. 9, 481 P.3d 1249, 1251 (2021) (explaining that after bail was

denied, Sewall petitioned the Nevada Supreme Court for a writ of mandamus).

In summary, Bish's interpretation of NRS 2.090(2) is faulty in several respects. Bish does not cite any specific Nevada authority conferring jurisdiction to this Court over a district court's order denying a writ of habeas corpus—which was titled alternatively as a writ of mandamus when it involves a justice court's bail decision. Bish invoked the appellate jurisdiction of the district court via his Petition while the matter was pending in justice court. See RA 25-26 (the Petition was filed and decided well before Bish was arraigned in district court on April 21, 2021). The district court decided the Petition well before the case was bound over and it obtained general jurisdiction over the matter. See id. at 87-92 (the Order denying was entered on December 3, 2020); see also RA 25-26. Therefore, the district court was acting in its appellate capacity when it decided this matter and Bish's only avenue for challenging its decision was to file a writ with this Court, not a direct appeal. See Sellers, 119 Nev. at 257, 71 P.3d at 497. As such, Bish has failed to show that this Court has jurisdiction over this appeal, and it should be dismissed. See Castillo v. State, 106 Nev. at 352, 792 P.2d at 1135; Moran, 117 Nev. at 527, 25 P.3d at 899.

B. The issues presented by Bish are moot and Bish has not proven that this Court should consider them.

While this appeal has been pending Bish entered into negotiations which resulted in a guilty plea and a prison sentence. Thus, the justice court's bail determination, and the district court's order declining to interfere with the same, are now moot because he is no longer subject to pretrial detention. *See Valdez-Jimenez*, 136 Nev. at 158, 460 P.3d at 981 (finding that the petitioner's pleas had made the issues presented moot, but finding the particular issues were capable of repetition, but evading review); *see also NCAA v. Univ. Nev.*, 97 Nev. 56, 58, 624 P.2d 10, 11 (1981) ("[c]ases presenting real controversies at the time of their institution may become moot by the happening of subsequent events.").

The Nevada Supreme Court will generally decline to hear a moot case. "That general rule comports with our duty to decide actual controversies by a judgment which can be carried into effect, and not to give opinions upon moot questions or abstract propositions, or to declare principles of law which cannot affect the matter in issue before it." *Valdez-Jimenez*, 136 Nev. at 158, 460 P.3d at 981. The Court may still consider a moot issue if it is a matter of widespread importance capable of repetition, yet evading review. *Id.* at 158, 460 P.3d at 982. "The party seeking to overcome mootness must prove that (1) the duration of the challenged action is

relatively short, (2) there is a likelihood that a similar issue will arise in the future, and (3) the matter is important." *Id*.

Bish pleaded guilty in district court before he filed his Opening Brief in this case, yet Bish did not address the mootness factors or otherwise prove that this Court should still consider his appeal in his Opening Brief. See RA (arraignment date was May 5, 2021); OB (the Opening Brief was filed on May 10, 2021). The State is at a disadvantage due to Bish's failure to present cogent argument or proof to overcome the mootness doctrine in his Opening Brief because it will not have an opportunity to respond if such is presented in Bish's Reply. As such, this Court should decline to consider any such argument from Bish and find that he failed to meet his burden to overcome the mootness doctrine. See LaChance v. State, 130 Nev. 263, 277, n. 7, 321 P.3d 919, 929, n. 7 (2014) (noting that the Nevada Rules of Appellate Procedure do not allow litigants to raise new issues for the first time in a reply brief and declining to consider such an argument); Edwards v. Emperor's Garden Restaurant, 122 Nev. 317, 330, n. 38, 130 P.3d 1280, 1288, n. 38 (2006) (declining to consider claims where the appellant "neglected his responsibility to cogently argue, and present relevant authority, in support of his appellate concerns"); Browning v. State, 120 Nev. 347, 354, 91 P.3d 39, 45 (2004) ("an appellant must present relevant

authority and cogent argument; issues not so presented need not be addressed by this court") (cleaned up).

The issues presented in this case are not of the character of the issues presented in *Valdez-Jimenez*, *supra*. While Bish attempts to characterize his issues broadly as matters of public importance, the crux of his claim is that he disagrees with the specific bail determination made in his case. He was afforded the prompt adversarial hearing required by *Valdez-Jimenez*, *supra*, and his arguments on appeal concern specific issues only relevant to him and the manner that the State defended the justice court's decision when he filed a Petition seeking review of the decision with the district court. The issues presented here are not of widespread public importance and, therefore, this Court should decline to consider the moot issues presented in this appeal.

- C. To the extent that the Court considers the merits of Bish's arguments on appeal, Bish has not demonstrated the district court manifestly abused its discretion by denying his Petition.
 - 1. Standard of Review.

Bish contends that this case presents an issue of *de novo* review as to the rules of evidence that apply to a bail hearing. OB, pg. 12-13. As will be discussed below, this issue is already settled within Nevada law and does not require clarification or review.

Bish next contends that this Court should review the district court's denial of his Petition for an abuse of discretion. Bish cites to Stockmeier v. Green, 130 Nev. 1003, 1008, 340 P.3d 583, 586 (2014), to support his assertion that this Court reviews the denial of a petition for writ of mandamus for an abuse of discretion. Bish's reliance on Stockmeier is misplaced. Initially, as discussed in subsection A of this Brief, Bish filed a petition for writ of mandamus as an alternative to a petition for habeas corpus and did not comply with the requirements for a petition for mandamus or otherwise argue such before the district court. More importantly, though, Stockmeier did not concern the district court's review of a lower court's decision. 130 Nev. at 1005-1006, 340 P.3d at 585 ("[t]his case began when appellant Robert Leslie Stockmeier, an inmate at Lovelock Correctional Center, filed the underlying district court petition seeking mandamus and injunctive relief to compel respondent Tracey Green, in her capacity as Chief Medical Officer for the State of Nevada, to comply with NRS 209.382(1)(b)"). In other words, the case did not involve the district court acting in its appellate capacity on a petition requesting that it reverse a decision of a lower court.

If Bish filed a writ with this Court to seek review of the district court's decision over a justice court matter, this Court would generally decline

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